1988

Vickie D. Crowther v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act, specifically Utah Code Ann. § 31-41-7(2),¹ provided for excess personal injury protection benefits coverage to an insured who has received such benefits under a separate policy of automobile insurance, as long as the insured does not receive duplication of benefits.

2. If the answer to issue no. 1 is affirmative, whether the exclusion contained in respondent Nationwide's policy, which states, "We will not pay for bodily injury to anyone arising from any of the following: . . . e. Occupying or being hit as a pedestrian by any motor vehicle other than your auto, which is covered as required under the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act", is valid in view of the fact that the exclusion is not one of those permitted by Utah Code Ann. §31-41-10.

3. Assuming that U.C.A. § 31-41-7(2) does permit stacking such as that sought by plaintiff, and assuming further that the above-quoted policy exclusion is not permitted by the Utah Automobile No-Fault Act, additional issues exist as to whether the Insurance Commissioner's Regulation 73-1, Article 5,

1. All references to the Insurance Code, except where otherwise indicated, are to the code prior to its reenactment as Title 31A. The motor vehicle accident giving rise to appellant's claim occurred on January 25, 1986. Title 31A was effective July 1, 1986. The subject matter formerly covered in Title 31, Chapter 41 is now covered at U.C.A. §§ 31A-22-306 through 309.

Subdivision i, conflicts with § 31-41-7(2) and is therefore in excess of the administrative authority granted him; and

4. Whether, under the facts of this case, Nationwide's "Other Insurance" clause bars appellant from recovering benefits from her own insurer in view of the payment of personal injury protection medical benefits to her by the insurer of the vehicle which struck her while she was a pedestrian, or alternatively whether the "Other Insurance" clause conflicts with U.C.A. § 31-41-10.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The relevant facts are undisputed and the parties filed a pleading entitled Stipulated Facts with the trial court (R. 56-61). Briefly, appellant Vickie Crowther has incurred more than \$7,000 in hospital and medical expenses (R. 37) as the result of injuries sustained when she was struck by an automobile while a pedestrian. The automobile which struck her was covered by a liability insurance policy which provided basic personal injury protection (PIP) benefits required under the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act. Mrs. Crowther has been paid the full \$2,000 in medical benefits provided by that coverage. Mrs. Crowther was also insured under a policy of automobile liability insurance issued by respondent Nationwide. Nationwide's policy also included the minimum required PIP coverage, and under it Mrs. Crowther claimed an additional \$2,000 in medical expenses. Nationwide refused to pay, contending that PIP coverage can not be "stacked" in that manner and further contending that Mrs. Crowther's claim was barred by a specific exclusion in the policy and by the policy's "other insurance" clause.

Upon Nationwide's failure to pay benefits, Mrs. Crowther brought suit as authorized by U.C.A. § 31-41-8. Nationwide answered Mrs. Crowther's Complaint and, after stipulating to the relevant facts, both parties brought cross-motions for summary judgment. In view of the stipulation as to the facts, both sides recognized that one of the motions would in all likelihood be granted and the other denied. The trial court

granted Nationwide's summary judgment motion and denied Mrs. Crowther's summary judgment motion (R. 96-97). Mrs. Crowther then appealed to this Court (R. 98-99).

The stipulated facts (R. 56-61) are as follows:

1. Nationwide is an insurer doing business in the State of Utah and with an office and place of business in Salt Lake County, Utah.

2. On January 25, 1986, Vickie Crowther was the insured under a policy of automobile insurance issued by Nationwide.

3. The automobile insurance policy issued by Nationwide included Endorsement 1594 providing for personal injury protection coverage.

4. On January 25, 1986, Mrs. Crowther sustained accidental bodily injury while a pedestrian when struck by a motor vehicle, other than her own, which was covered as required under the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act.

5. As a direct and proximate result of the accident described in the preceding paragraph, Mrs. Crowther incurred reasonable and necessary medical expenses in a sum in excess of \$4,000.00.

6. Mrs. Crowther was paid \$2,000 in personal injury protection medical expense benefits by the insurer of the motor vehicle which struck her.

7. Two Thousand Dollars (\$2,000.00) was the entire amount of personal injury protection medical expense benefits available under the policy describing the automobile which struck Mrs. Crowther.

8. Mrs. Crowther made demand upon Nationwide for payment of \$2,000 medical expense benefits pursuant to the terms of the policy under which she was an insured.

9. Nationwide failed within thirty-five (35) days after receipt of proof of Mrs. Crowther's medical expenses, or at all, to pay personal injury protection medical expense benefits under the policy issued by it.

10. Mrs. Crowther does not claim to be entitled to more than \$2,000 in benefits under the policy issued by Nationwide [but she does claim a right to interest and attorney fees pursuant to U.C.A. § 31-41-8].

A true and correct copy of the Stipulated Facts (R. 56) is included in the Addendum to this Opening Brief of Appellant. A true and correct copy of Nationwide's policy's Endorsement 1594 (R. 59-61) is attached to the Stipulated Facts.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it granted respondent Nationwide's summary judgment motion and denied appellant Vickie Crowther's summary judgment motion. Implicit in the trial court's ruling and Order (R. 96) is a finding that Mrs. Crowther was not entitled to collect personal injury protection medical expense benefits from her own insurance carrier after being paid \$2,000 in PIP medical expense benefits by the insurer of the vehicle which struck her while she was a pedestrian.

Utah's no-fault automobile insurance scheme, as it existed on the date of the accident, January 25, 1986, neither expressly permitted nor prohibited so-called "stacking" of benefits. However, Utah Code Ann. § 31-41-7(2) stated:

"When a person injured is also an insured party under any other policy, including those complying with this act, primary coverage shall be afforded by the policy insuring the motor vehicle out of the use of which the accident arose."

Use of the word "primary" in the statute infers the possible existence of "excess" coverage. Section 31-41-7(2) provided for priority of payment.

The policy exclusion relied on by Nationwide is not one of those exclusions expressly permitted by the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act. The exclusion upon which Nationwide relied in refusing to make payment states: "We will not pay for bodily injury to anyone arising from any of the following: . . . e. Occupying or being hit as a pedestrian by any motor vehicle other than your auto, which is covered as required under the Utah

Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act." Admittedly, that exclusion does address the factual situation in which Mrs. Crowther was involved. However, since Mrs. Crowther was a person covered by the Act (U.C.A. § 31-41-7(1)), she was entitled to coverage from her own insurer, subject only to the permissible exclusions set forth in U.C.A. § 31-41-10. O'suala v. Aetna Life & Cas., Utah, 608 P.2d 242 (1980).

Neither does Nationwide's "other insurance" policy clause deprive Mrs. Crowther of coverage. For all practical purposes, that clause is nothing more than another exclusion from the coverage required to be provided by the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act and is not one of the permissible exclusions set forth in U.C.A. § 31-41-10. The reasonable interpretation of the "other insurance" clause is to prohibit receipt of duplicative benefits. Since Mrs. Crowther's medical expenses were in excess of \$4,000 she would not be receiving duplicative benefits were she to be paid \$2,000 in PIP medical benefits from each of two different insurance carriers.

The Insurance Commissioner's Regulation 73-1, Article 5, Subdivision i, which seeks to set a "maximum amount of minimum PIP benefits an injured person may receive pursuant to involvement in a motor vehicle accident" and mandates that "there shall be no stacking or duplication of such benefits", conflicts with the plain language of U.C.A. § 31-41-7(2), and is therefore in excess of the administrative authority granted him.

Finally, if Mrs. Crowther is entitled to receive PIP medical expense benefits from her own insurer, she is also entitled to an award of attorney fees pursuant to U.C.A. § 31-41-8.

IV. ARGUMENT

A.

THE UTAH AUTOMOBILE NO-FAULT INSURANCE ACT IMPLICITLY
PROVIDED FOR EXCESS PERSONAL INJURY PROTECTION
BENEFITS COVERAGE, AS LONG AS THE INSURED DOES
NOT RECEIVE DUPLICATION OF BENEFITS

The issue to be resolved is whether appellant Vickie Crowther, who has been paid \$2,000 PIP medical expense benefits by the insurer of the driver who struck her, is entitled to collect an additional \$2,000 from her own insurer in view of the fact that her medical expenses are well in excess of \$4,000. The case requires interpretation of the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act² and a determination as to whether any exclusion or other coverage-limiting provision of Nationwide's policy validly permits Nationwide to deny coverage to Mrs. Crowther. As is discussed later in this brief, Nationwide's policy does contain an unambiguous exclusion which, if valid, clearly bars Mrs. Crowther's claim. She submits that the exclusion is not permitted by the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act.

2. The Act, as such, was repealed along with the rest of Title 31 when Title 31A was enacted and became effective on July 1, 1986. Appellant's accident occurred on January 25, 1986 and this Court's opinion should, therefore, be based on the prior law. Appellant doubts that reference to the new no-fault statutory scheme, U.C.A. §§ 31A-22-306 et seq., would change the result.

Utah's statutory no-fault scheme neither expressly permits nor prohibits so-called "stacking"³ of benefits.

However, Utah Code Ann. § 31-41-7(2) stated:

"When a person injured is also an insured party under any other policy, including those complying with this act, primary coverage shall be afforded by the policy insuring the motor vehicle out of the use of which the accident arose."⁴

Use of the word "primary" in the statute infers the possible existence of "excess" coverage. If the legislature had not intended that an injured person be allowed to make a claim under more than one policy, it would not have used the word "primary". The statute would then read, "When a person injured is also an insured party under any other policy, including those complying with this act, [] coverage shall be afforded by the policy insuring the motor vehicle out of the use of which the accident arose." By using the word "primary", the legislature provided for priority of payment: primary coverage is to be afforded by the policy insuring the motor vehicle out of the use of which the accident arose, and excess coverage is to be afforded by "any other policy, including those complying with this act".

3. Appellant uses the term "stacking" in a broad sense. She really seeks to hold Nationwide liable for excess coverage, primary coverage having been exhausted before she had been totally indemnified for her medical expenses.

4. U.C.A. § 31A-22-309(4) contains almost identical language.

Reference to the new Insurance Code, Title 31A, provides further evidence of the legislature's intent to allow an insured to "stack" personal injury protection benefits, as long as to do so does not result in receipt of duplicative benefits. U.C.A. § 31A-22-305(6) provides that "In no event shall the limit of liability for uninsured motorist coverage for two or more motor vehicles be added together, combined, or stacked to determine the limit of insurance coverage available to an injured person for any one accident. . . ." However, that portion of Title 31A which discusses "personal injury protection" coverage, U.C.A. §§ 31A-22-306 et seq., contains no similar prohibition against combining or stacking personal injury protection benefits. Instead, new section 31A-22-309(4), in almost identical language to that of section 31-41-7(2), provides for the same priority of payment that existed at the time Mrs. Crowther sustained injuries and incurred medical expenses.

In view of the fact that no other state with a statutory no-fault scheme has precisely the same scheme as was contained in the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act, reference to analagous cases in other jurisdictions has only limited value. Nevertheless, in every other no-fault jurisdiction which has considered whether an insured may combine coverage where two or more policies are issued by different insurers, the courts have held that the insured may avail him or

herself of excess coverage.⁵ See, e.g. Wasche v. Milbank Mut. Ins. Co., Minn., 268 N.W.2d 913 (1978); Esler v. United Services Auto. Assoc., S.C., 255 S.E.2d 676 (1979); Porter v. Utah Home Fire Ins. Co., Or., 650 P.2d 130 (1982); and National General Ins. Co. v. Meeks, Ga., 244 S.E.2d 920 (1978). In Baron v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., Ga., 276 S.E.2d 78 (1981), the injured person was a passenger in an insured motor vehicle. Her medical bills were less than the PIP benefits available under the driver's policy so the Georgia court held that to also allow a claim under her own auto policy would result in an undeserved duplication of benefits. The court did state, however:

"Under our analysis, had the Barons' claim for necessary medical expenses arising from the collision exceeded the \$2,500 limit on that coverage available to them under the [driver's] policy . . . the PIP "no fault" provisions of their own policy would have been triggered and they would have been afforded coverage thereunder for the excess PIP claims up to the limits thereof."

Nevada's no-fault plan is generally similar to the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act and neither expressly permits nor prohibits "stacking" of benefits. Nevertheless, in Travelers Ins. Co. v. Lopez, Nev., 567 P.2d 471 (1977), the Nevada Supreme Court held that "stacking" was permissible. In that case, Lopez was injured when his automobile collided with that of an

5. The no-fault schemes in some states contain a limiting statute. One such statute--that contained in the North Dakota statutory scheme--states: "The maximum amount of basic no-fault benefits payable . . . resulting from accidental bodily injury to any one person as the result of any one accident shall not exceed fifteen thousand dollars . . ." (§26-41-03(2), NDCC). The Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act contained no such limiting statute.

uninsured motorist. His automobile was covered under two separate policies, each containing no-fault coverage. The court's opinion permitted Lopez to recover benefits under both policies. The court found an important public policy consideration to support its conclusion. The court pointed out that Lopez paid premiums on both policies covering the same vehicle and the insurance company "accepted the payment of premiums and has, in effect, assumed the risk that injury to the insured may occur." (567 P.2d at 473).

The same public policy consideration exists in the instant case. Vickie Crowther paid premiums to Nationwide for, among other things, no-fault coverage. She was entitled to coverage to the full extent permitted by the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act, and limited only as permitted by the Act. Nationwide's insistence that she must look only to the insurer of the vehicle which struck her frustrates that policy.

In each case where a court has prohibited "stacking" of no-fault benefits the decision was grounded on one of three factual or statutory basis not present in the instant case. Either (1) an insured tried to make a claim on multiple vehicles insured under one policy or by a single insurer, or (2) "stacking" would have resulted in a recovery in excess of actual medical bills or in excess of the amount prescribed by a "limiting" statute [see fn. 5], or (3) the statutory scheme expressly prohibited "stacking". None of those basis exist for denial of coverage in the instant case. Payment by defendant Nationwide of its PIP medical benefits policy limits will not

result in a windfall to its insured because her medical bills exceed the combined limits of the policy covering the automobile which struck her and the policy issued by defendant.

B.

THE POLICY EXCLUSION RELIED UPON BY NATIONWIDE IS NOT
ONE OF THOSE EXCLUSIONS PERMITTED BY THE UTAH
AUTOMOBILE NO-FAULT INSURANCE ACT

Endorsement 1594 to the policy issued by Nationwide, entitled "personal injury protection (Utah)" (R. 59), provides that Nationwide "will pay benefits for accidental bodily injury arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of a motor vehicle. It pays regardless of fault in the accident. Benefits include Medical Expenses You and your relatives are covered for bodily injury caused by accident involving the use of any motor vehicle."

Endorsement 1594 also provides, under the heading "Coverage Exclusions", "We will not pay for bodily injury to anyone arising from any of the following: . . . e. Occupying or being hit as a pedestrian by any motor vehicle other than your auto, which is covered as required under the Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act." The exclusion addresses the factual situation in which plaintiff was involved. She was "hit as a pedestrian" by a motor vehicle which was "covered as required" under the Act. However, the policy purports to create an exclusion from PIP coverage which is not permitted by the Act.

Provided an injured person fits within one of the three categories of persons covered by the Act (U.C.A. § 31-41-7(1)), the only exclusions from coverage permitted by the Act are those

set forth in U.C.A. § 31-41-10.⁶ Osuala v. Aetna Life & Cas., Utah, 608 P.2d 242 (1980). None of those exclusions (which are all also included in Endorsement 1594) are applicable in the instant case. Vickie Crowther was a person described in U.C.A. § 31-41-7(1)(a)--she was injured in an accident in this state involving any motor vehicle--and thus is entitled to coverage from her insurer, subject only to the permissible exclusions set forth in U.C.A. § 31-41-10. In the Osuala case, supra, this court did not explicitly hold that the exclusions set forth in Section 31-41-10 were the only permissible exclusions to no-fault coverage. This court did not need to make that finding because it determined that Osuala, an uninsured motorist, was not one of those persons described in section 31-41-7(1). When it enacted Title 31A the legislature, presumably familiar with Osuala, resolved any doubt. The old section § 31-41-10 began, "Any insurer may exclude benefits: . . ." U.C.A. § 31A-22-309(2)(a), covering the same subject matter, begins with the language: "Any insurer issuing personal injury protection coverage under this

6. U.C.A. § 31-41-10 provides,

"Any insurer may exclude benefits:

(a)(i) For injury sustained by the injured while occupying another motor vehicle owned by the insured and not insured under the policy, or

(ii) for an injury sustained by any person while operating the insured motor vehicle without the express or implied consent of the insured or while not in lawful possession of the insured motor vehicle.

(b) To any injured person, if such person's conduct contributed to his injury under any of the following circumstances:

(i) Causing injury to himself intentionally; or

(ii) While committing a felony."

part may only exclude from this coverage benefits:" and then lists the same permissible exclusions as were set forth in Section 31-41-10. Under the new Insurance Code, as under the old Utah Automobile No-Fault Insurance Act, the exclusion for pedestrian insureds is not one permitted by the statutory scheme.

C.

THE NATIONWIDE POLICY "OTHER INSURANCE" CLAUSE
IS NOTHING MORE THAN ANOTHER EXCLUSION NOT
PERMITTED BY THE UTAH AUTOMOBILE NO-FAULT
INSURANCE ACT

Nationwide also contends that its "Other Insurance" clause, as contained in Endorsement 1594, bars Vickie Crowther's claim for additional PIP medical expense benefits. That clause (R. 61) states,

OTHER INSURANCE No insured may receive duplicate benefits under this and any similar insurance.

Similar insurance may apply to an accident involving **bodily injury to you or a relative, or bodily injury** to someone else involving the use of **your auto**. If it does, all benefits payable cannot exceed the highest available under any one policy. **We** will pay **our** proportional share of such benefits. That **share** will be **our** proportion of the total benefits available."

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