1988

Vickie D. Crowther v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Company : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The summary judgment in favor of Nationwide should be affirmed. Nationwide's policy does not provide benefits to Vickie Crowther under the factual situation presented. The Other Insurance clause of the policy properly restricts Vickie Crowther from stacking any Nationwide benefits on top of the benefits she has already received. That restriction is consistent with the No-Fault Act, it is consistent with the Insurance Commissioner's Regulation and it is consistent with existing Utah case law.

The Other Insurance clause is sufficient to uphold summary judgment for Nationwide; however, below Nationwide also asserted that exclusion (e) of the policy was a sufficient independent ground for the judgment. That exclusion eliminates coverage for injuries to a pedestrian insured when the motor vehicle in the accident provides no-fault benefits. On appeal

Nationwide does not rely on this exclusion because of this Court's ruling in Farmers Ins. Exchange v. Call, 712 P.2d 231 (Utah 1985).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

NATIONWIDE'S OTHER INSURANCE CLAUSE LIMITS
VICKIE CROWTHER'S BENEFITS TO THE BENEFITS
SHE HAS ALREADY RECEIVED.

The effect of Nationwide's Other Insurance clause on Vickie Crowther's claim is clear. She received \$2,000 in no-fault medical benefits from the insurer of the vehicle which struck her. Two thousand dollars was the limit on the benefits available under that policy. The Other Insurance section of Nationwide's Endorsement addresses this circumstance by stating:

Similar insurance may apply to an accident involving bodily injury to you or a relative, or bodily injury to someone else involving the use of your auto. If it does, all benefits payable cannot exceed the highest available under any one policy.

Here, both policies involved had a limit of \$2,000 on medical expense benefits. Two thousand dollars is the highest amount available under any one policy. In this situation, Nationwide's policy provides that all benefits payable cannot exceed \$2,000. Of course, if the other policy had a stated

limit greater than \$2,000, then that limit would have been the operative limit.

In Point C of her brief, appellant discusses the Other Insurance clause. She does not contest the effect of the provision as set forth above. Rather, she contends that it is an exclusion which is not permitted by Utah's No-Fault Act.

Although the impact of the No-Fault Act is addressed later, it should be clarified that the Other Insurance Clause is not an exclusion, but a limitation. The Other Insurance clause does not restrict the scope of coverage. In fact, coverage under Nationwide's policy must be presumed before the Other Insurance clause has any effect. If there is coverage under Nationwide's policy and another policy, then the provisions come into play to limit the amount of benefits recoverable. The clause does not eliminate coverage in the first instance and should therefore be viewed as a limitation on recovery rather than an exclusion of coverage.

POINT II

NATIONWIDE'S OTHER INSURANCE CLAUSE IS VALID UNLESS CONTRARY TO STATUTE OR PUBLIC POLICY.

In preparing its Utah no-fault Endorsement, Nationwide chose to limit the benefits available to the highest amount available under any one policy. Nationwide has the right to

make this a part of the contract because this limitation is not contrary to statute or to public policy.

Even in the area of no-fault insurance, there remains room for freedom of contract. This Court recently acknowledged as much in Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Call, 712 P.2d 231 (Utah 1985). In that no-fault coverage case this Court stated:

An insurer has the right to contract with an insured as to the risks it will or will not assume, as long as neither statutory law nor public policy is violated. Thus an insurer may include in a policy any number or kind of exceptions and limitations to which an insured will agree unless contrary to statute or public policy.

Id. at 233.

In Farmers v. Call, a household exclusion to no-fault coverage was invalidated because that exclusion was not specifically authorized by Utah Code Ann. § 31-41-10. The Court concluded that the household exclusion was contrary to the legislature's interest in requiring certain minimum coverage. Id. at 234. This reasoning probably also applies to Nationwide's exclusion (e) since the statute does not specifically allow an exclusion for injuries to an insured who is a pedestrian when struck by an otherwise insured vehicle.

The judgment in favor of Nationwide in this case should be affirmed, but the basis for affirmance should be the Other Insurance clause, not exclusion (e). The Other Insurance clause is a limitation on the benefits available which

Nationwide had the option to include in its endorsement. The effect of that provision is to prevent a stacking of no-fault coverages from two or more policies. According to Farmers v. Call, Nationwide is free to include such a limitation and Vickie Crowther is free to accept such a limitation.

POINT III

THE NO-FAULT ACT DOES NOT REQUIRE STACKING.

Nationwide's decision to prohibit the stacking of its benefits on top of another insurer's benefits is not contrary to the No-Fault Act. Unlike the statutes of several other jurisdictions, Utah's statute simply does not address stacking. Appellant admits this on page 10 of her brief where she states: "Utah's statutory no-fault scheme neither expressly permits nor prohibits so-called 'stacking' of benefits." If the statute does not speak on the question of stacking, then it must be within the latitude of the parties to the policy to deal with that question.

Throughout appellant's brief she gingerly chooses her words to describe the effect of the statute. She claims the act allows stacking but never contends that the act requires stacking. There is a vast difference between a statute which allows the parties to stack limits if they chose to so draft

their contract and a statute which requires that the parties so draft their contract.

Appellant's argument based on the language of the statute should be rejected. She contends that use of the word "primary" in the statute "infers the possible existence" of excess coverage. Again, for the statute to infer the possible existence of excess coverage is vastly different from the statute expressly requiring that excess coverage be provided. Appellant points to no other evidence in the statute that the statute requires such stacking. The reference to primary coverage in the statute simply clarifies which coverage is primary if there is more than one insurer providing coverage. To suggest that this statutory provision therefore requires an insurer to provide excess coverage is to stretch the rules of statutory construction beyond recognition.

It would also be inconsistent with the stated purpose of the act to require stacking of no-fault benefits. The stated purpose of the act is to:

[R]equire the payment of certain prescribed benefits in respect to motor vehicle accidents through either insurance or other approved security but on the basis of no-fault, preserving, however, the right of an injured person to pursue the customary tort claims where the most serious types of injuries occur. The intention of the legislature is hereby to possibly stabilize, if not effectuate certain savings in, the rising costs of automobile accident insurance and to effectuate a more efficient equitable method of handling the greater bulk of the personal injury

claims that arise out of automobile accidents, these being those not involving great amounts of damages.

Utah Code Ann. § 31-41-2. Plainly, the Act is not intended to provide a more seriously injured person with an alternative to a customary tort action. It is intended to leave that remedy for those with injuries in excess of the no-fault limits. It is also intended, or at least hoped, that the No-Fault Act would reduce the costs of auto insurance. Requiring the payment of no-fault benefits to one who has already received such benefits in the statutory amounts undercuts these legislative intents. Further, the legislature has demonstrated its concern for and ability to increase the statutory limits as the need arises. The Act was recently amended to increase the required medical benefits to \$3,000. See Utah Code Ann. § 31A-22-307(1)(a) (1986).

The No-Fault Act was enacted to provide a quick remedy for persons with relatively minor injuries. It requires certain coverages and allows certain exclusions. However, so long as the requisite minimum benefits have been provided, the purpose of the No-Fault Act is accomplished. Private insurers and private insureds might choose to contract for additional no-fault coverage; however, it is contrary to the stated purpose of the act to construe it to require such additional coverage. The judgment for Nationwide should be affirmed because the clause limiting benefits is not contrary to Utah statute.

POINT IV

PUBLIC POLICY DOES NOT REQUIRE STACKING.

Public policy does not dictate that Nationwide be required to pay benefits when Vickie Crowther has already been paid the statutory amount. As discussed, the express policy of the No-Fault Act is to provide minimum benefits at low cost. Public policy is further reflected in the Insurance Commissioner's Regulation, in prior Utah case law and in common sense. The opinions from other jurisdiction are largely not dispositive; however, they simply provide further good reasons for enforcing Nationwide's anti-stacking provision.

The Insurance Commissioner has considered whether stacking of no-fault benefits should be allowed and has concluded that stacking should be prohibited. Indeed, for Nationwide to pay Vickie Crowther additional benefits would be in violation of Insurance Department Regulation 73-1, Art. V, ¶ i. That section states in part:

The maximum amount of minimum PIP benefits an injured person may receive pursuant to involvement in a motor vehicle accident shall be those amounts specified under Section 31-41-6. There shall be no stacking or duplication of such benefits.

This regulation simply validates Nationwide's decision to include an anti-stacking provision in its endorsement.

Appellant makes the unnecessary argument that the Commissioner exceeded his authority in issuing this

regulation. However, this argument adds nothing because appellant simply contends that the Commissioner exceeded his authority for the same reason as appellant contends the no-fault statute requires stacking. Certainly, if this Court were to conclude that stacking is required, then the Insurance Commissioner's Regulation would have no effect.

However, the Insurance Commissioner has obviously considered the very question posed by this appeal and has done so in the context of the overall scheme of insurance benefits intended by the Legislature. Nationwide submits that the Insurance Commissioner's evaluation of whether to allow stacking should be given considerable weight by this Court because the Commissioner is in the unique position of not only having full knowledge of the Legislature's actions regarding insurance but also of implementing those enactments. Charged with that duty, the Commissioner has concluded that the interests of the people of the State of Utah are best served by prohibiting the stacking of no-fault benefits.

This Court found no good reason to require the stacking of uninsured motorist benefits in Martin v. Christensen, 22 Utah 2d 415, 454 P.2d 294 (1969). There, an insurer issued two separate automobile policies which both contained uninsured motorist protection. Each policy contained a provision similar to Nationwide's Other Insurance clause which had the effect of

limiting recovery to the highest applicable limit of any one policy. This Court rejected the insured's argument that the insurer could not so limit its obligation, stating:

The important fact would seem to be that, under one policy or two, the insured was protected against uninsured motorists to the extent the statute prescribes. So long as that coverage is provided, there is nothing in the statute which would prevent an insurer, in issuing a second policy, from limiting its coverage to the statutory requirement.

454 P.2d at 296.

There is even less reason to stack no-fault coverage than there is to stack uninsured motorist coverage. Uninsured motorist coverage serves the function of providing an injured person with protection in the event a tort-feasor is without any insurance. That type of injured person has no meaningful remedy other than to the extent there is uninsured motorist coverage. There may be nothing more to collect after the uninsured motorist benefits have been paid. By contrast, Vickie Crowther has an additional remedy. Presumably, the no-fault insurer of the motor vehicle which struck her also provides insurance for the driver of that vehicle if he is found negligent. That consideration leaves even less reason for stacking to be required in the no-fault context.

As appellant concedes, no court has ruled that Utah's No-Fault Act requires stacking. The statutes vary

significantly from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, making the cases cited by appellant inapposite.

In Wasche v. Milbank Mutual Insurance Co., 268 N.W.2d 913 (Minn. 1978), the court relied on its holdings in the uninsured motorist context to conclude that the legislature intended to require stacking of no-fault benefits. The Minnesota No-Fault Act had been passed when stacking of uninsured coverages was the recognized rule. The court noted that had the legislature intended to prohibit stacking in either the no-fault context or the uninsured motorist context, it could have so provided.

The exact opposite situation exists in Utah because of Martin v. Christensen, supra. That opinion was issued before the legislature enacted the No-Fault Act in 1973. Hence, if the reasoning of the Wasche court is applied to Utah, the conclusion should be that the legislature presumed anti-stacking provisions were valid when it enacted the No-Fault Act and would have provided to the contrary if it had so intended.

In Esler v. United Services Automobile Association, 273 S.C. 259, 255 S.E.2d 676 (1979), the court permitted an insured who, unlike Vickie Crowther, had paid two separate premiums for additional personal injury protections under two policies to recover under both policies. The court clarified however that stacking of the basic personal injury protection benefits was not permitted because of the specific language of the South

Carolina statute. The present case is not one where the insured has chosen and paid for benefits over and above the requisite statutory minimum.

In Porter v. Utah Home Fire Insurance Co., 58 Ore. App. 729, 650 P.2d 130 (1982), the court based its decision that the legislature intended to require stacking in part on the insurance commissioner's commentary which addressed multiple or double recovery situations but did not express an intent to preclude stacking. By contrast, the Utah Insurance Commissioner has expressly stated in Regulation 73-1 that stacking of no-fault benefits is not permitted.

National General Insurance Co. v. Meeks, 145 Ga. App. 830, 244 S.E.2d 920 (1978), is also distinguishable. There the Georgia statute under scrutiny required minimum medical benefits of \$2,500 but also stated that the total benefits to be paid should not exceed the sum of \$5,000. There is also no indication in the opinion that the insurer had expressly limited its benefits to the highest available limit.

In Baron v. State Farm Mutual Auto Insurance Co., 157 Ga. App. 16, 276 S.E.2d 78 (1981), the court was concerned with whether an insured could recover duplicate benefits, not additional benefits. The amount sought did not exceed the stated limit of either policy. The court did not consider the

effect of any other insurance clause which might have been in the policies under scrutiny.

Finally, in Traveler's Insurance Co. v. Lopez, 567 P.2d 471 (Nev. 1977), the court again considered whether an insured who had paid two premiums on two separate policies was entitled to stack the benefits. The court then construed the Other Insurance clause of the policies to apply only to duplication of benefits and not stacking.

Several courts have expressly enforced anti-stacking provisions such as that found in Nationwide's policy. Rana v. Bishop Insurance of Hawaii, Inc., 713 P.2d 1363 (Haw. 1985), is well-reasoned authority for this result. As in Utah, one of the primary purposes of the Hawaii no-fault act was to stabilize motor vehicle liability insurance premium rates. The court felt that the legislature had struck a balance between providing adequate and equitable reparation for the injured and keeping the cost of such reparation within the reach of every licensed driver. The court explained:

The legislative history of the No-Fault Law evinces a legislative concern to reduce and stabilize automobile insurance costs prevailing prior to its enactment and to provide and maintain reasonable premium rates for no-fault basic coverage. We discern therefrom a legislative intent to prohibit stacking which indubitably will lead to higher premiums for no-fault basic coverage.

Id. at 1369.

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